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Introduction

The Civil War is the great choke point in American history. We are what we are today—for better and for worse—because of what did and didn’t happen during those four crowded years from 1861 to 1865. As a writer and a historian, I’ve looked at things that did happen and at things that might have happened in books like The Guns of the South, How Few Remain, and Fort Pillow, and in shorter pieces such as “Must and Shall” and “The Last Reunion.”

However, I was academically trained in the history of the Byzantine Empire. We know a surprising amount about the history of the Roman Empire’s eastern half which eclipsed the western half after the western half suffered political collapse. But there’s even more that we don’t know and probably never will. The historical process when working with material like that is to find a fact here and another fact there, and then infer how the two isolated pieces of data fit together.

When I started conducting research for The Guns of the South, I discovered that American Civil War history isn’t like that. You aren’t starved for material; you’re drowning in it. Even ephemera—like letters, cartoons, and newspaper articles—survive and can be compared and analyzed. Most prominent Civil War figures—and plenty of obscure ones, too—wrote their memoirs after the fighting stopped. The historical process here involves pulling a drop from the ocean of information in which you’re drowning and demonstrating that it’s a representative drop.

As I write this, the beginning of the Civil War sesquicentennial is only a year away. Interest in the war and what it means to American history will surely grow, as it did during the observance of the Civil War centennial in the early 1960s. 
You would think that, in the century and a half since the guns fell silent, every possible thing to be said about the Civil War would have been said, and in every possible way, too. But you would be wrong.

In 366 Days in Abraham Lincoln’s Presidency, Stephen A. Wynalda has found a new perspective from which to examine the events of 1861–1865. Rather than chronicle President Lincoln’s actions over the course of a year, Wynalda discusses important moments within the context of Lincoln’s entire presidency.

Wynalda’s first entry for 1863, for example, talks about January 1st, the day the Emancipation Proclamation went into effect, and therefore the day the whole moral nature of the Civil War changed. His first entry for 1865 looks at January 2nd and deals with the New Year’s Ball (January 1st was a Sunday, so the ball was held the following day). He describes how Washington, D.C.’s black inhabitants went to the White House anxious about how they would be received, how Lincoln in turn welcomed them, and how overwhelmed they were by this. It reflects and comments on what had happened two years and a day before.

Moving chronologically in time as Wynalda does allows him to note something in one entry and, sometimes, comment upon its consequences later on. He is not simply a chronicler or an annalist like you find in Byzantine historiography; he is a historian and an analyst. A chronicler just writes things down: “This happened, and then that happened, and then, over in this other place, that third thing happened.” A historian puts things together and shows what they mean: “This happened, and because it happened, two years later that other thing happened, a thing that would have been inconceivable unless the previous event had laid the groundwork for it.”

So we get not only a year (including 1864’s leap day) in the presidency of Abraham Lincoln, but a year taken from all of his presidency. And, thanks to Stephen Wynalda’s extensive research and sympathetic understanding of his subject, we see Lincoln from an angle we never have seen before. Wynalda shows us how results spring from events, and does so in a novel way. My hat’s off to him in unabashed admiration.

Harry Turtledove, 2010


Foreword

According to recent scholarship, the only historical figure more written about than Abraham Lincoln is Jesus Christ. In just the last quarter century, Lincoln’s political career, his marriage, his writing ability, his mental health, his friendships, and even his sexual orientation have been examined ad nauseam in books and articles. And yet many of these scholars and writers would admit that no one has a full grasp of exactly who Lincoln was. This is a difficult task, particularly because Lincoln left behind no diary or journal. Lincoln is an especially tough nut to crack. As Pulitzer Prize–winning author David Donald noted in We Are Lincoln Men, the sixteenth president had many acquaintances but few intimate friends, and none that saw every aspect of this complicated man. Moreover, one of Lincoln’s primary intimates—Mary Lincoln—did not write anything of length about the man she loved, and took her private knowledge of him to her grave.

I’ve decided to address this problem from a new angle. The eighteenth-century Scottish literary theorist Hugh Blair wrote, “It is from private life, from familiar, domestic, and seemingly trivial occurrences, that we most often receive light into the real character.” If Blair was right, we might reveal more about Lincoln not just by chronicling how he steadied a wearied hand to sign the Emancipation Proclamation, but how his face brightened when he saw that a contingent of black Washingtonians—heretofore unwelcome in the White House—had come there simply to shake the hand of “Marse Linkum.” Perhaps it is just as revealing to see the father who wrote out a pretend pardon for his son Tad’s errant doll as it is the commander in chief who scoured thousands of courts-martial documents to find reasons to commute executions. We can see Lincoln weep not only at the death of his friend Edward Baker, but at the death of his son Willie’s pony.

To do this, I reveal Lincoln’s activities during 366 days (a year, counting leap day) out of the over 1,600 days he was president and president-elect. I hope that this slice, representing a quarter of Lincoln’s life as chief executive, will illuminate what his life was like during those four and a half pivotal years in American history. Some of the selected days are historically important, such as the days he signed the Homestead Act (May 20, 1862) and the legislation enacting the first federal income tax (the Revenue Act on August 5, 1861). Others were important to Lincoln personally, such as the day Willie died (February 20, 1862) and, of course, the day he was shot (April 14, 1865). However, the majority of these days are marked by occurrences that are mundane and noted by historians only in passing. I use them to illuminate some aspect of Lincoln’s life, whether as president, commander in chief, father, husband, or friend.

These daily logs are arranged chronologically and, to keep them interesting, I made them brief narratives. If a log needed further illustration or explanation, I provide sidebars of equal brevity. Each log usually has one focus, but many share a focus with other daily entries, representing an ongoing series of events, such as the progression of decisions that led to the shelling of Fort Sumter. Related entries are referenced in the index.

This technique highlights how things evolved for Lincoln during his tenure as president. We can see Lincoln’s frustrating search for a general to lead the Army of the Potomac; the progression of Lincoln’s thoughts on emancipation; his efforts to get himself reelected; the evolution of Lincoln’s fight not just with political rivals, but with fellow Republicans. With this comes a new appreciation of Lincoln not just as the “Great Emancipator” but as a man who virtually willed the Union back together.

Here, too, the contrasts and ironies in his life are illustrated. While he was adroit in reading the public and his political opponents, he greatly underestimated Southern secession fever, could not comprehend why African Americans refused to emigrate to Africa, and found his eldest son, Robert, incomprehensible. While the black activist Frederick Douglass raved about how Lincoln treated him like a “gentlemen” and felt as if he could put his “hand on his shoulder,” Lincoln also told racist jokes, used racial epithets, and enjoyed racially degrading minstrel shows. And while he made much of his “oath registered in heaven” to defend the Constitution, he abridged its protections more than any other president in history.

Chronicling selected days reveals aspects of Lincoln that are perhaps not as well known. Lincoln was among the least educated of our presidents but is still the only one who owned a patent for an invention. He hated to hunt but loved to test-fire guns in the open field that surrounded the unfinished Washington Monument. He wrote poetry and, to relieve tension, recited an obscure Scottish poem so often that people thought he had written it. And, while his features were generally considered to be unattractive, he was one of the most photographed Americans of the nineteenth century.

Following a discussion of what this book does provide comes a discussion of what it does not. This book is strictly biographical, focusing on Lincoln and the people important to him personally or politically. It is therefore not a history of the Civil War and does not provide detailed accounts of battles.

Along those same lines, when this book does touch on military actions, they will disproportionally focus on events that happened in the eastern theater. Any Civil War scholar will tell you that the war was won in the western theater and the actions in Virginia, Maryland, and Pennsylvania were a costly stalemate at best. The reason the East receives more attention here is because it received more attention from Lincoln. This is partly due to his own obsession with capturing Richmond. It is also because the time it took for events to be relayed by telegraph between Washington and the western theater prohibited his involvement.

In the political realm, Lincoln came to Washington with just two years of experience working in the federal government and zero executive experience. He relied heavily on his more experienced cabinet secretaries to manage the day-to-day workings of the various departments. Matters of foreign policy, the Navy, and Native American affairs receive little attention in this book because they received little from Lincoln.

This book is also written for the general reader. There is nothing here that will surprise Lincoln or Civil War scholars. While I do include a few minor discussions about our sixteenth president (such as whether he was homosexual and whether he manipulated the rebels into firing on Fort Sumter), these are not meant to be comprehensive or detailed and are certainly not intended to be an entry into the ongoing scholarly debates.
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1860

“WE ARE NOT ENEMIES, BUT FRIENDS. WE MUST

NOT BE ENEMIES. THOUGH PASSION MAY HAVE

STRAINED, IT MUST NOT BREAK OUR BONDS OF

AFFECTION.”

—ABRAHAM LINCOLN

 

 

 

 

 

NOVEMBER 6

The Sixteenth President

Lincoln, on this Tuesday in 1860, waited for the election returns in the vote that would put him in the White House.

With the Illinois legislature out of session, Lincoln acquired a temporary office at the State Capitol where he stayed most of the day, rarely mentioning the election. His law partner, William Herndon, convinced him to vote in the state elections and, before Lincoln walked to the polls, he cut off the top of the ballot listing the presidential candidates so that he couldn’t vote for himself.

That evening he waited with a crowd as a courier delivered election returns from the telegraph. First came news that Lincoln carried Illinois, then Indiana. He also carried the Northwest and New England, but there was no word from the critical eastern states. At nine o’clock, Lincoln walked to the telegraph office to read the results as soon as they arrived. At ten came word that Lincoln took Pennsylvania. He decided to take a break and had coffee and sandwiches with his wife, Mary, at Watson’s Saloon, where he was greeted at the door with “How do you do, Mr. President!”

When Lincoln returned to the telegraph office, returns from the South were coming in. “Now we shall get a few licks back,” Lincoln said. Indeed the news was ominous. Ten Southern states had not even carried Lincoln on the ballot. At two in the morning, Lincoln was told that he carried New York and he decided to go home. The final tallies showed that Lincoln received less than 40 percent of the popular vote, with the other 60 percent split between three Democrats. Lincoln carried all the Northern states except New Jersey, garnering 180 electoral votes, 28 more than he needed.


#1

HOW DID LINCOLN GET ELECTED?

How did an uneducated Midwesterner with only two years of experience in national politics become the chief magistrate of the land? For one thing, Lincoln was not an unknown. Americans had watched for years the growing sectional tensions over slavery, emphasized by a race war in Kansas, the Dred Scott Supreme Court decision, and John Brown’s attempt to spark a slave insurrection in Virginia. When Lincoln took on Stephen Douglas for his seat in the Senate in 1858, the public read with relish their heated debates over slavery. While Lincoln lost this election, he became nationally known, particularly after the debates were published. The popularity of the debates led to an invitation in early 1860 to speak in New York at Cooper Union—a speech that was reprinted nationwide.

When the Republican convention was held in Chicago—Lincoln’s backyard—Lincoln’s managers worked hard to present him as a moderate second choice to the more radical favorites—William Seward and Salmon Chase. Unlike Seward and Chase, Lincoln’s lack of experience in national politics meant he had fewer enemies. When neither Chase nor Seward could garner the Republican nomination, the convention turned to Lincoln.

By then the Democratic Party was imploding. The party had dominated politics for forty years and was itself dominated by Southerners who forced northern Democrats to swallow compromise after compromise over slavery just to keep the South from seceding. At the Democratic convention in Charleston, South Carolina, the Northerners could not stomach another compromise. The convention collapsed and a total of three Democrats—Stephen Douglas, John Breckinridge and John Bell—found themselves on the presidential ticket, bleeding votes from each other. None of the Democrats could match Lincoln’s 40 percent of the popular vote.



NOVEMBER 10

The Gravest Apprehensions

Lincoln, on this Saturday in 1860, responded in writing to former Connecticut congressman Truman Smith’s plea that Lincoln assuage Southern fears about his policies as president—fears that fueled secession fervor.

Shortly after the election, a letter from Smith was delivered to Lincoln, warning the president-elect of a circular that was handed out at the Connecticut polls on Election Day. The circular used inaccuracies and misquotes to claim that Lincoln was “an undisguised enemy of the peace and safety of the Union.” Smith wrote that “the most strenuous exertions have been made to fill the minds of the people of the South with the gravest apprehensions as to what would be your purposes and policy.” Smith advised that Lincoln “speak out … to disarm mischief makers, to allay causeless anxiety, to compose the public mind.” Indeed, newspapers were already predicting a secession crisis. That night in Charleston, South Carolina, a mob carried an effigy of Lincoln with a placard that read, ABE LINCOLN, FIRST PRESIDENT NORTHERN CONFEDERACY. A pair of slaves hoisted the effigy onto a scaffold and set it alight.

Lincoln, on this Saturday, rebuffed Smith’s urgings, saying that he felt “constrained … to make no declaration for the public.” He added, “I could say nothing which I have not already said, and which is in print, and open for inspection of all. To press a repetition of this upon those who have listened, is useless; to press it upon those who have refused to listen, and still refuse, would be wanting in self-respect, and would have an appearance of sycophancy and timidity, which would excite the contempt of good men, and encourage bad ones to clamor the more loudly.”

A week and a half later, the clamor became so great that Lincoln finally spoke out for the first time.

 

NOVEMBER 20

A Public Statement

During the 1860 presidential campaign, Lincoln made no speeches and issued no public statements—referring all inquiries to his party’s platform and his public statements before his nomination. It was not unusual for presidential candidates in those days to eschew campaigning, but Lincoln also wanted to avoid rhetoric that could be used to fan the flames of sectionalism.

Once Lincoln was elected, Southerners began calling for secession because they were told Lincoln was planning to emancipate their slaves. Letters poured in to Lincoln, begging him to make a public statement to mollify the fears of Southerners. “I could say nothing which I have not already said,” Lincoln responded. Lincoln was concerned about those who were “eager for something new upon which to base new misrepresentations.”

Bending to political pressure, Lincoln, on this Tuesday in 1860, inserted a response to the secession crisis into his friend Lyman Trumbull’s Republican victory speech.

On this day, Springfield was holding a celebration of Lincoln’s election with a speech from Trumbull, into which Lincoln inserted a few paragraphs he considered to be his stance on the crisis. “Each and all States will be left in as complete control of their own affairs respectively, and at as perfect liberty to choose, and employ, their means of protecting property, and preserving peace … as they have ever been under any administration,” Lincoln wrote. To this Trumbull naively added, “When this is shown, a re-action will assuredly take place in favor of Republicanism, the Southern mind even will be satisfied … and the fraternal feeling existing in olden times … will be restored.”

Just as Lincoln expected, the speech was used against him, particularly in the press. “The Boston Courier … endeavor[s] to inflame the North with the belief that [the speech] foreshadows an abandonment of Republican ground,” the president-elect lamented.


#2

WHY DID THE SOUTH FEAR LINCOLN?

Why did Lincoln’s election prompt Southern states to secede from the Union? A look at those states’ articles of secession, which included declarations of the causes of their decision, is instructive. For example, Mississippi’s “Immediate Causes” of secession originated as far back as the 1787 Northwest Ordinance, the first of a handful of instances where the North refused “the admission of new slave States into the Union.” As Texas’s “causes” stated, the absence of any entry of new slave states, and thus no new senators or congressmen, “placed the slave-holding States in a hopeless minority in the federal congress, and rendered representation of no avail in protecting Southern rights against their [Northern] exactions and encroachments.” Some of the other causes included the lack of enforcement of fugitive slave laws, inflammatory rhetoric from abolitionists, the Republican Party’s advocacy of “Negro equality,” and Republican support of John Brown’s 1859 attempt to spark a slave uprising in Virginia. The final straw, as South Carolina’s “causes” stated, was “the election of a man to the high office of President … whose opinions and purposes are hostile to slavery.”

Any thorough and fair reading of Lincoln’s opinions and speeches reveals that he was not “hostile” to slavery. While he was, indeed, against the expansion of slavery into the territories, he openly supported fugitive slave laws. He was critical of abolitionists and their inflammatory demands, and vehemently eschewed John Brown’s methods. Time after time during the 1858 Lincoln–Douglas debates, Lincoln declared himself against black social and political equality. Lincoln’s 1858 Springfield speech, in which he declared that “this government cannot endure, permanently half slave and half free,” was often cited as a threat against the South. A closer look reveals that it was instead a prediction. But the truth was hidden from most Southerners behind sectional rhetoric, outright lies, and emotional appeals to the universal fear of change.



NOVEMBER 30

Alexander Stephens

Lincoln and the future vice president of the Confederacy, Alexander Stephens, became friends in the late 1840s when they were both Whigs in Congress; Lincoln for Illinois, Stephens for Georgia. After Lincoln’s election as president in 1860, Georgia governor Joe Brown called the state legislature into session to consider secession. On November 14, Stephens delivered a passionate plea urging Georgians to show “good judgment” and not depart the Union.

On this Friday in 1860, Lincoln—the future president of the Union—sent a letter to Stephens, touching off an exchange of letters.

Lincoln wrote Stephens for a copy of his November 14 speech. Stephens responded two weeks later admitting that “the Country is certainly in great peril and no man ever had heavier or greater responsibilities resting upon him than you.” Lincoln wrote, “Do the people of the South really entertain fears that a Republican administration would directly, or indirectly, interfere with their slaves … ? If they do, I wish to assure you, as a friend and still, I hope, not an enemy, that there is no cause for such fears. The South would be in no more danger in this respect, than it was in the days of [George] Washington.” Stephen wrote back, “When men come under the influence of fanaticism, there is no telling where their impulses or passions may drive them … In addressing you thus, I would have you understand me as being not a personal enemy, but as one who would have you do what you can to save our common country.”

Lincoln briefly considered offering a cabinet post to Stephens, but once he was made the vice president of the new Confederate Republic that, of course, was impossible.


DECEMBER 5

The Buchanan Perspective

Lincoln, on this Wednesday in 1860, was angry after reading a synopsis of President James Buchanan’s last annual message to Congress, in which he blamed the North for the secession crisis.

While Buchanan was a Pennsylvanian—a state known for its abolitionist movements—he was pro-South and pro-slavery virtually all his political career. After Lincoln was elected and the Deep South scheduled secession conventions, Buchanan looked for a way to deflect the crisis. He tried to appeal to reason in his annual message on December 3. “The immediate peril arises … [from] the incessant and violent agitation on the slavery question throughout the North,” he said, ignoring the “agitation” of slavery proponents. “Hence a sense of security no longer exists around the family altar. This feeling of peace at home has given place to apprehensions of servile insurrections.” According to Buchanan, this, and not Lincoln’s election, was the source of secessionist fervor.

Then, in an appeal to the North, Buchanan wrote an argument against secession. “In order to justify secession as a constitutional remedy, it must be on the principle that the Federal Government is a mere voluntary association of States, to be dissolved at pleasure by any one of the contracting parties. If this be so, the Confederacy is a rope of sand, to be penetrated and dissolved by the adverse wave of public opinion in any of the States. … [Our] Union might be entirely broken into fragments in a few weeks which cost our forefathers many years of toil, privation and blood to establish.” He also believed, however, that the federal government had no recourse should a state decide to break away from the Union.

Lincoln’s anger was mollified when he read the president’s entire message. Yet despite Buchanan’s plea, on December 8, South Carolina would elect delegates to its secession convention.


DECEMBER 18

“No Sign Will Be Given Them”

As secessionist fever grew, Lincoln grew weary of misrepresentations of his words, as demonstrated by an angry letter he penned on this day in 1860.

Distortions of Lincoln’s words were not new to him, but they were particularly irksome when used to inflame secessionists. During and after his election, Lincoln avoided any public statements for just that reason. As one friend warned, Lincoln “must keep his feet out of all such wolfe traps.” The one time Lincoln made a statement through his friend Lyman Trumbull (November 20), the press trumpeted it as a declaration of war on the South. “These political fiends are not half sick enough yet,” Lincoln said. “They seek a sign, and no sign will be given them.”

To Henry Raymond, editor of the New York Times, Lincoln became caustic. Raymond had forwarded a letter from William Smedes, one of his reporters in Vicksburg, Mississippi. Smedes claimed that Lincoln’s presidency was “disastrous” to the South because “he is pledged to ultimate extinction of slavery, holds the black man to be the equal of the white & stigmatizes our whole people as immoral & unchristian.” Smedes adds “that it makes every particle of blood in me boil with suppressed indignation that I have to submit my country to the rule of such a man . … I would regard death by a stroke of lightning to Mr. Lincoln as but just punishment from an offended Deity for his infamous & unpatriotic avowals.”

“What a very mad-man your correspondent, Smedes is,” Lincoln responded on this day. “Mr. S[medes] can not prove one of his assertions true. Mr. S[medes] seems sensitive on the question of morals and Christianity. What does he think of a man who makes charges against another which he does not know to be true, and could easily learn to be false?”


DECEMBER 24

Forts

On this day in 1860 Lincoln wrote his friend Lyman Trumbull of his concern that secessionists would seize federal forts in Charleston, South Carolina.

Shortly after Lincoln’s election as president in November 1860, Major Robert Anderson—who was in charge of the Charleston forts—asked Washington for reinforcements. He also asked that his troops be moved from the less-defensible Fort Moultrie to one of the other forts—Castle Pinckney or Fort Sumter. Despite assurances from state authorities that they would not attack him, Anderson could see a growing army of militia and batteries of cannon around him. The Carolinians thought they had an agreement with President James Buchanan that Anderson would not move from Moultrie, but Buchanan sent an order that the major misunderstood as giving him permission to move his men to Sumter. Meanwhile, South Carolina seceded from the Union on December 20.

In Springfield, Lincoln received word that General in Chief Winfield Scott had told Buchanan that Anderson needed to be reinforced. Lincoln sent a message to Scott to be “prepared … to either hold, or retake, the forts, as the case may require, at, and after the inaugeration.” Then on this Christmas Eve, Lincoln wrote Trumbull, “Despaches have come here two days in secession, that the Forts in South Carolina, will be surrendered by the order, or consent at least, of the President. I can scarely believe this; but if it prove true, I will … announce publicly at once that they are to be retaken after the inaugeration.”

During the night of December 26, Anderson moved his men to Sumter. When the Charleston authorities sent emissaries to direct Anderson to return to Moultrie, Anderson responded, “I decline to accede to his request; I cannot and will not go back.”


DECEMBER 27

Lincoln in Stone

Lincoln, on this Thursday in 1860, sat for sculptor Thomas Jones in his effort to make a bust of the president-elect.

The proliferation of Lincoln statues since his death has arguably made him the most sculpted American in history. But the sculpting of Lincoln actually began in the last five years of his life. The first was by Leonard Volk who, in March 1860, made a cast of Lincoln’s face to use for a model. Two months later he came to Springfield, Illinois, to make casts of Lincoln’s hands. While Volk’s subsequent bust never attained the fame of his casts, Daniel French used Volk’s hand casts when he sculpted the seated statue for Washington’s Lincoln Memorial.

Jones came to Springfield to sculpt a bust of Lincoln. On this day, Lincoln began daily sessions at the St. Nicolas Hotel posing for Jones, using the time to write or read. During one session, Lincoln had been reading his mail when he discovered a suspicious package that Jones feared contained “an infernal machine or torpedo [bomb].” After carefully unwrapping it, they found a gift—a homemade pigtail whistle—which Lincoln practiced with for the rest of the session. Jones’s sculpture was unusual in that it was the first to show Lincoln’s new beard and it sported a smile—a rare feature on Lincoln sculptures.

Sculptors William Swayne, Sarah Fisher Ames, and Vinnie Ream had Lincoln pose for them in the White House. Clark Mills acquired another face cast of Lincoln in February 1865. When comparing Volk’s and Mills’s masks, Lincoln’s secretary John Hay thought the difference profound, the latter with features so weathered that at least one sculptor mistook it for a death mask. Hay added that the Mills’s mask had “a look as one on whom sorrow and care had done their worst … the whole expression is of unspeakable sadness. … Yet the peace is not the dreadful peace of death; it is the peace that passeth understanding.”


1861

“YOU ARE GREEN, IT IS TRUE, BUT THEY

[THE CONFEDERATES] ARE GREEN TOO;

YOU ARE ALL GREEN ALIKE.”

—ABRAHAM LINCOLN

 

 

 

 

 

JANUARY 3

Lincoln Vacillates

Lincoln rarely changed his mind after he made a carefully considered decision, but his inexperience in national politics made him indecisive during the months before and after his first inauguration. An excellent example of this occurred on this Thursday in 1861, when he struggled to fill a cabinet position.

At the 1860 Republican presidential convention in Chicago, powerful Pennsylvania Senator Simon Cameron threw his support to Lincoln’s nomination, allegedly because he had been promised a cabinet post. And, when Pennsylvania proved pivotal to Lincoln’s election, the president-elect decided the state should be represented in his cabinet. On New Year’s Eve 1860, Lincoln offered Cameron a cabinet seat as either the Secretary of War or Treasury.

Lincoln’s choice caused a furor among fellow Republicans. Cameron’s own party detested him, largely because of his ineptitude and corruption. The “Great Winnebago Chief”—a nickname acquired after he bilked Native Americans—had a reputation that was “shockingly bad.” By mid-January, twenty Republican Congressmen had signed a petition protesting Cameron’s appointment.

Under this pressure, Lincoln, on this day, rescinded his offer. “Things have developed which make it impossible for me to take you into the cabinet,” he wrote. Mindful of how this might be perceived, he added, “And now, I suggest that you write me declining the appointment, in which case I do not object to its being known that it was tendered [to] you. Better do this at once, before things so change, that you can not honorably decline, and I be compelled to openly recall the tender.”

Cameron refused to respond and his supporters applied their own pressure on Lincoln. A few days before his inauguration, Lincoln reversed himself again and named Cameron his Secretary of War. Afterward, Cameron repeatedly embarrassed Lincoln with his mismanagement of the critical War Department.


#3

A DIVISIVE CABINET

In Lincoln’s day, candidates did not attend presidential conventions. Despite a persistent legend, in his absence Lincoln’s political managers at the Chicago convention did not promise cabinet posts to competing candidates in exchange for his nomination. Lincoln wired his managers, “Make no contracts that will bind me.” And they obeyed him.

Lincoln, however, was interested in unifying the Republican Party. The party was only a few years old and Lincoln had become a Republican after he watched his old Whig party fracture into ideological pieces. When he was elected, it was largely because the Democrats had fractured as well. After his election, he decided to make his cabinet representative of all the varied Republican factions.

To do this, Lincoln made political history by filling critical cabinet posts with the four most prominent Republicans who had competed with him for the presidential nomination in Chicago. Lincoln named Edward Bates his Attorney General, Simon Cameron his Secretary of War, Salmon Chase his Secretary of Treasury, and the man everyone expected to win the Chicago nomination—William Seward—became Secretary of State.

Unfortunately this also meant that more than half of his cabinet advisors (there were seven at that time) were men who believed they deserved the presidency more than Lincoln. It made for volatile relationships. Chase in particular tried to undermine Lincoln and ultimately would resign because of his ambition. Seward, too, attempted to usurp the presidential power in the first month of Lincoln’s administration but, once thwarted, Seward came to respect Lincoln and even became a close friend.



JANUARY 11

Lincoln Stands Firm

On this Friday in 1861, Alabama became the fourth state to secede from the Union as a direct result of Lincoln’s election to the presidency. Many worried that there wouldn’t be a country for Lincoln to preside over and there were several congressional efforts to mollify the Southern states with a compromise.

The most serious compromise was submitted by Kentucky Senator John Crittenden, proposing several amendments to the Constitution. These amendments, among other things, would reestablish the old Missouri Compromise line (latitude 36°30’), ban slavery north of it, protect slavery south of it, and prohibit any future amendment from reversing these amendments. This Crittenden Compromise would effectively allow slavery to spread westward—something Lincoln had promised not to allow in the election he had just won. It would also make slavery a permanent institution—something Lincoln personally could not stomach.

Fearing secession and war, Republicans were tempted to accept this compromise, but Lincoln refused, saying it “would lose us everything we have gained in the election.” He added, “The tug has got to come and better now, than any time hereafter.” Following his wishes, Republicans defeated the measure.

Afterward, colleagues tried to persuade Lincoln to reconsider. To one of these compromisers—Rep. James T. Hale of Pennsylvania—Lincoln, on this day in 1861, wrote, “What is our present condition? We have just carried an election on principles fairly stated to the people. Now we are told … the government shall be broken up, unless we surrender to those we have beaten, before we take office … if we surrender, it is the end of us, and of the government.” As he later wrote to his future Secretary of State William Seward, any such compromise would “put us again on the high road to a slave empire.”


#4

THE OTHER THIRTEENTH AMENDMENT

There were several efforts in late 1860 and early 1861 to placate secessionist states in order to bring them back into the Union. One was the Crittenden Compromise and another was the Corwin Amendment to the Constitution, which would have forbidden the federal government from ever interfering with slavery, and no future amendment could be passed to abolish it.

Lincoln’s response to such amendments was cautious: “I do not desire any amendment to the Constitution. Recognizing, however, that questions of such [an] amendment rightfully belongs to the American people, I should not feel justified nor inclined to withhold from them, if I could, a fair opportunity of expressing their will.”

The Corwin Amendment passed in the House on February 27, 1861, and in the Senate just before the inauguration on March 4. As one of his last acts as president, James Buchanan signed the amendment, although his signature was not required. It was then sent to the states for ratification. While a few states actually ratified it, the shelling of Fort Sumter and the ensuing war killed the amendment before it ever got the needed ratification by two-thirds of the states.

It is an irony of history that by seceding from the Union to protect their way of life, particularly their “peculiar institution” of slavery, the Southern states abandoned what may have been their best chance to preserve that way of life. Had they not seceded and had the Thirteenth Amendment been ratified, slavery would have indeed been permanently protected. Instead the Thirteenth Amendment that was eventually ratified, more than four years later (in December 1865), permanently abolished slavery.



JANUARY 12

Visitors

After Lincoln was elected president in November 1860, well-wishers and office-seekers thronged to Springfield to see the new president-elect. One of the former came to see Lincoln on this Saturday in 1861. He was an old Hoosier farmer named Jones, and Lincoln had worked for him more than thirty years before at a wage of a dollar a day.

Lincoln saw him in the Governor’s Room of the State Capitol. Many other visitors that day, like every day, were office-seekers looking for a place in his administration. “Lincoln told us he felt like a surveyor in the wild woods of the West,” noted one reporter, “who, while looking for a corner, kept an eye over his shoulder for an Indian.”

By December, he was holding daily receptions from nine until noon, where visitors could speak to him without invitation. From noon until two he would go home for lunch, then return to see people by invitation only. A news reporter, Henry Villard, from the New York Herald, observed these daily visitations and remarked,

As a rule he showed remarkable tact in dealing with each of them [visitors], whether they were rough-looking Sagamon County farmers still addressing him familiarly as “Abe,” sleek and pert commercial travelers, staid merchants, sharp politicians, or preachers, lawyers, or other professional men. He showed a very quick and shrewd perception of and adaptation to individual characteristics and peculiarities. … He was ever ready for an argument, which always had an original flavor, and as a rule, he got the better in the discussions. There was, however, one limitation to the freedom of his talks with his visitors. A great many of them naturally tried to draw him out as to his future policy as President regarding the secession movement in the South, but he would not commit himself.

JANUARY 24

“Diamond in the Rough”

On this Thursday in 1861, President-elect Lincoln waited for the second night in a row at the Springfield train station in vain for his wife, Mary, and their eldest son, Robert, to return from an excursion to the East. Mary had been on a two-week shopping spree, buying a new wardrobe. She was determined not to appear in Washington with dowdy small-town clothes. She was overwhelmed with the variety of fashions and jewels in New York, where she was fussed over and extended exorbitant credit simply because she was the future first lady. This would be the first of many such splurges in New York.

Lincoln, himself, was unaffected by his elevated stature. Even in the White House, he would continue to greet visitors in slippers and was sometimes seen late at night without pants, his long stork-like legs bared below his shirttails. One Southern governor claimed Lincoln received him in bare feet. “He probably had as little taste about dress and attire as anybody that was ever born; he simply wore clothes because it was needful and customary; whether they fitted or looked well was entirely above or beneath his comprehension,” recalled an acquaintance. “If ever there was a diamond in the rough, or good fruit enclosed in a shabby husk, it was Abraham Lincoln,” said Erasmus Keyes.

Lincoln trudged home alone, this night, and the next day Mary and Robert finally returned from their trip, Mary glowing from “the winter gaieties of New York,” said a reporter. With the help of her sisters, Mary subsequently threw an open house to show off her new wardrobe.


#5

INFORMAL WEAR

Lincoln’s size-14 feet were so unusually large that his boots had to be specially made for him. But his feet were not just large, they were flat-footed, slightly pigeon-toed, and afflicted with corns and bunions. So painful were Lincoln’s boots that he would frequently shuck them, preferring to walk around his office and the White House in backless slippers that made flip-flop sounds as he walked, to the consternation of those who thought he should be more formal.

Yet Lincoln was oblivious to criticism. One of his two personal secretaries, John Hay, relates an event that occurred on April 30, 1864:

A little after midnight … the President came in the office laughing, with a volume of [English Comic Writer Thomas] Hood’s works in his hand, to show Nico [another secretary, John Nicolay] and me the little caricature … seemingly utterly unconscious that he with short shirt hanging above his long legs & setting out behind like the tail feathers of an enormous ostrich was infinitely funnier than anything in the book he was laughing at. What a man it is! Occupied all day with matters of vast moment, deeply anxious about the fate of the greatest army of the world, with his own fame & future hanging on events of the passing hour, he yet has such a wealth of simple bonhomie & good fellowship that he gets out of bed & perambulates the house in his shirt to find us that we may share with him the fun of one of poor Hood’s queer little conceits.



 

JANUARY 28

Inaugural Preparations

By late January, the president-elect was gathering material and secluding himself in order to write his inaugural address. But on this Monday in 1861 he had to put aside his speech to attend to business.

In order to write his address, Lincoln borrowed from his law partner, William Herndon, speeches by Henry Clay and Noah Webster, Andrew Jackson’s proclamation against nullification, and a copy of the Constitution. For privacy, Lincoln accepted an offer from his brother-in-law, Clark Moulton Smith, to use a third-floor room above Smith’s stores, just across the street from the State House. Lincoln even advertised his need for seclusion in papers as far away as New York. “The first draft of the Inaugural Message is now being made by the President-elect. … No further invitations will be issued,” he advertised in the New York Tribune on January 29.

Nevertheless, Lincoln, on this day, welcomed a committee from Indianapolis inviting him to visit their city en route from Springfield, Illinois to Washington. Lincoln then accepted their invitation and indicated February 12 as the day he would arrive in the Hoosier capital, his first overnight stop on his inaugural trip. He was already solidifying plans for his other stops: Cincinnati, Columbus, Pittsburgh, Cleveland, Buffalo, Albany, New York City, Philadelphia, Harrisburg, and Baltimore. In total, Lincoln’s inaugural trip would wind through 1,900 miles of the country he would soon preside over.

Four years later, Lincoln’s funeral train would take the opposite route (with the omission of Cincinnati and Pittsburgh and the addition of Chicago) back home to Springfield.

JANUARY 31

A Tearful Goodbye

On January 30, 1861, Lincoln took a train from Springfield to Charleston, Illinois and, with a shawl over his shoulders, trudged through the ice and mud to a buggy. The buggy delivered him to State Senator Thomas A. Marshall’s house, where he stayed the night. The next morning, on this Thursday in 1861, Lincoln rode eight miles to Coles County where he visited with his stepmother, Sarah “Sally” Lincoln.

Sarah had been as much of a mother to Lincoln as his mother Nancy had been. His relationship with his father was far more problematic. Thomas Lincoln was a harsh man, and no one could ever recall Lincoln saying a kind word about him. They were so estranged that Lincoln refused to visit his father on Thomas’s deathbed in 1851 and did not attend his funeral. Nevertheless, on this day, he did visit his father’s grave, at Shiloh Cemetery and gave instructions for a grave marker, perhaps recalling that his mother was buried in Indiana without one.

The next day, February 1, Lincoln rode out to Coles County one last time to see Sarah. They held hands for quite awhile and between her tearful kisses, Sarah told her boy that she would never see him again. Lincoln muttered a response and said they would meet “up yonder.”

Sarah’s prophecy would prove true and more than four years later, when Sarah was told of her stepson’s assassination, she said, “I know’d they’d kill him. I’ve been waitin’ fer it.”


#6

SALLY

Just two years after Thomas and Nancy Lincoln brought their daughter, Sarah, and son, Abe, to Little Pigeon Creek in southern Indiana, Nancy died. The cause of death was probably “milk sickness,” an illness contracted from drinking the milk of a cow that had consumed the deadly white snakeroot. Lincoln was nine years old when he helped his father cobble together his mother’s coffin and bury her in an unmarked grave.

A year later, Thomas approached an old Kentucky girlfriend who was now a thirty-one-year-old widow named Sarah “Sally” Johnston. “I have no wife and you no husband, Thomas said. “I came a-purpose to marry you.” Sally, upon her arrival at the Lincoln log cabin, replaced little Abe’s cornhusk bed with a feather mattress, thus winning his affection. She also encouraged—unlike his father—the young Lincoln’s inquisitive mind. She would later relate,

Abe read the Bible some, though not as much as said; he sought more congenial books suitable for his age. … Abe had no particular religion, didn’t think of that question at that time, if he ever did. … Abe read all the books he could lay his hands on, and when he came across a passage that struck him, he would write it down on boards if he had no paper and keep it there till he did get paper. … He never told me a lie in his life, never evaded, never quarreled, never dodged nor turned a corner to avoid a chastisement or other responsibility. He never swore or used profane language in my presence. … Abe didn’t care much for crowds of people; he chose his own company, which was always good. He was not very fond of girls, as he seemed to me.



FEBRUARY 6

A Last Springfield Reception

On this evening in 1861, from 7:00 PM until midnight, the Lincolns hosted a reception at their house to say goodbye to Springfield.

The Lincolns were in the middle of their final week before heading to Washington when they hosted a reception, inviting not only their neighbors but, as one newspaper noted, “the political elite of this State, and the beauty and fashion of this vicinity.” Over seven hundred people filed into the Lincolns small house on Eighth and Jackson, with Lincoln standing at the front door shaking the hands of every one of them.

Many of the visitors noted the hair sprouting from the president-elect’s jaw, already nearly three months old. The previous October, just before the election, eleven-year-old Grace Bedell of Westfell, New York wrote Lincoln, promising that her brothers would vote for him if he grew whiskers. “You would look a great deal better for your face is so thin,” she wrote. “All the ladies like whiskers and they would tease their husbands to vote for you and then you would be President.” So pleased was Lincoln with Bedell’s letter that he not only took her advice, but carried her letter in his hat for years afterward. A few weeks later when Lincoln was sworn in, he became the first president to sport a beard.

Many noted the new dress Mary was wearing. “Mrs. Lincoln’s splendid toilette,” one reporter wrote, “gave satisfactory evidence of extensive purchases during her late visit to New York.”
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WHAT THE LINCOLNS LEFT BEHIND

In the weeks prior to their inaugural trip to Washington, the Lincolns packed up their belongings, rented their house, and sold their furniture. Lincoln appeared one evening at the home of Mary’s cousin Lizzy carrying a satchel filled with his letters and writings. He told his favorite cousin that if he did not come back, she could do with them what she wanted. Mary, already worried about public sentiment toward her and her husband, burned her old letters in the alley behind the house. She would continue to destroy letters written to her for the rest of her life.

To his law partner, William Herndon, owner of one of the largest private libraries in the area, Lincoln gave his small collection of books, which included Edward Gibbon’s The Decline and Fall of the Roman Empire, Edward Hitchcock’s Religious Truth Illustrated from Science and a Dictionary of Congress. He also insisted that Herndon keep the LINCOLN AND HERNDON sign hanging above their law firm. “Let it hang there undisturbed,” Lincoln told him, “Give our clients to understand that the election of a President makes no change in the firm. … If I live I’m coming back some time, and then we’ll go right on practicing law as if nothing had ever happened.”

The Lincolns had a yellow dog, named Fido, who was routinely given table scraps and loved to chase his own tail. Despite the protests of his youngest son, Tad, Lincoln gave Fido to a neighbor, Johnny Roll. Lincoln’s faithful horse Old Bob (to differentiate him from young Bob) had taken him on many a circuit through the Illinois wilderness, and was retired to pasture. Four years later, when Lincoln’s body would return to Springfield, Old Bob would be given a position of honor, paraded through the streets behind the president’s hearse. Besides Robert Lincoln, Bob would be the only member of the president’s immediate family to attend his burial.



FEBRUARY 8

The Lincolns Move Out

On this Friday in 1861, Lincoln packed up and left the only home he ever owned. The Lincolns had lived in the two-story wood-frame home on the corner of Eighth and Jackson streets (homes in Springfield didn’t have numbered addresses until 1873) for seventeen years. Three of their four sons (Willie, Eddie, and Tad) were born in this house and one—Eddie—died in it. It was in its parlor that Lincoln received delegates from the 1860 Republican Convention to officially inform him that he was nominated for president.

Abraham and Mary had purchased the house from the pastor who had married them—Rev. Charles Dresser—for $1,200 cash and a little shop Lincoln owned in downtown Springfield. Originally the house was one and a half stories and only six rooms. But once their family had blossomed to five, the Lincolns expanded the home, doubling its size. Out back, a wood-planked walkway led to the privy and the barn where Lincoln kept his buggy, Old Bob the horse, and a cow that Lincoln milked daily. At the time of their departure, Lincoln had the siding of the house painted chocolate, the shutters a deep green.

In anticipation of leaving for Washington, the Lincolns had rented their home and, on this day, moved into a hotel, the Chenery House. Also on this day, Lincoln took out fire insurance policies on the house ($3,000), the carriage house ($75), woodhouse and privy ($125) for a premium of $24 a year.

Lincoln never returned to his Springfield home and, although Mary went back to Springfield after his death, she refused to live in the house. Their only surviving son, Robert, donated the home to the state of Illinois in 1887.

FEBRUARY 11

Lincoln Leaves Springfield

Lincoln lived in Springfield longer than he did anywhere else. On this Monday, 1861, he left his home of twenty-four years for the last time.

It was raining when Lincoln arrived at the Great Northern Depot without his wife (Mary was shopping in St. Louis and joined him in Indianapolis). Idling at the depot was a Hinkley locomotive—the L. M. Wiley—pulling two coaches. Lincoln had requested there be no public demonstration and had prepared nothing to say, but when he saw the hundreds of friends and neighbors at the station to see him off, he decided to deliver a farewell. At 7:55 AM, Lincoln stepped onto the platform of the rear coach and took off his hat. As he spoke, his voice was husky with emotion:

My Friends—No one, not in my situation, can appreciate my feeling of sadness at this parting. To this place, and the kindness of these people, I owe everything. Here I have lived a quarter century, and have passed from a young to an old man. Here my children have been born, and one is buried. I leave, not knowing when, or whether ever, I may return, with a task before me greater than that which rested upon [George] Washington. Without the assistance of that Divine Being, who ever attended him, I cannot succeed. With that assistance I cannot fail. … To His care commending you, as I hope in your prayers you will commend me, I bid you an affectionate farewell.

A few minutes later, Engineer Elias H. Fralick rolled the Hinkley out of the station and began Lincoln’s journey to Washington.

FEBRUARY 14

Whistle-stops

Despite a cold rain falling on western Ohio, thousands turned out to greet Lincoln’s train on this Thursday in 1861, as the president-elect made his way to Washington.

Between leaving Columbus, Ohio, at 8:00 AM and reaching Pittsburgh twelve hours later, the inaugural train stopped at nearly a dozen small Ohio and Pennsylvania towns. Usually these “whistle-stops” were just long enough for Lincoln to step out on the rear platform of the train to see the crowds and for them to see him. “I certainly think I have the best of the bargain,” he joked more than once.

Some of the small towns had prepared elaborate celebrations, but Lincoln said he couldn’t stay because he had an appointment in Washington (his inauguration). Three days earlier he had tried to illustrate this in Thorntown, Indiana with one of his famous anecdotes about a county politician and his horse. The horse, on the way to the nominating convention, decided to stop at every bush to eat, and made his master so late that he lost the nomination. Unfortunately, the train pulled out of the station before he finished the story. Lincoln was delighted to find that several Thorntown residents ran all the way to Lebanon—his next stop some ten miles away—to hear the rest of the story.

On this day in Wellsville, Ohio, a drunk rushed up to Lincoln saying he was a Democrat and had voted for Stephen Douglas. Lincoln shook the man’s hand and said that if Douglas helped keep the “ship of state” afloat, he might be elected to pilot it in the future. Two days later at still another whistle-stop (Westfield, New York), Lincoln met Grace Bedell, the little girl he credited with inducing him to grow a beard.

FEBRUARY 15

“There Is No Crisis”

By the middle of February 1861, seven states—South Carolina, Mississippi, Florida, Alabama, Georgia, Louisiana, and Texas—had seceded from the Union, six of which had met in Montgomery, Alabama to form the Confederate States of America. This new government adopted a constitution and elected a president—Jefferson Davis. Nevertheless, Lincoln delivered two speeches on this day in 1861, the fifth day of his inaugural journey to Washington, claiming that the country wasn’t facing a crisis at all.

In Pittsburgh he said, “There is no crisis, excepting such a one as may be gotten up at anytime by designing politicians. … If the American people will only keep their temper, on both sides of the [Mason-Dixon] line, the troubles will come to an end.” Later that day, in Cleveland, he said, “I think there is no occasion for any excitement. The crisis, as it is called, is altogether an artificial crisis.” He then oversimplified the problems as a mere difference of opinions, and that it had “no foundation in facts.” He added, “Let it [the secession crisis] alone and it will go down of itself.”

Over and over again throughout his journey east, Lincoln delivered speeches that picked apart Southern arguments for seceding (in a democracy, the majority ruled, not the minority; the election of another president in four years was a more legitimate recourse than secession). He challenged Southerners to “point us to anything in which they are being injured, or about to be injured.”

Lincoln clearly believed that cooler heads—convinced by his logical arguments—would prevail over the emotional ones. He earnestly believed that Union sentiment in the South was strong enough to overcome the secessionists. It was a naive belief he clung to until war finally came.

FEBRUARY 21

The Baltimore Plot

On this eleventh day of Lincoln’s journey to Washington and his inauguration, Lincoln left New York City at 8:00 AM via the Cortlandt Street ferry, boarded his train, and rode through Jersey. At four that afternoon, the Lincolns arrived in Philadelphia, where they took a carriage to the Continental Hotel. Late in the evening, a Chicago detective named Allan Pinkerton, hired to watch secessionists in Baltimore, met with Lincoln to deliver an ominous warning.

Pinkerton told Lincoln of a specific plot to assassinate him during his visit to Baltimore—a hotbed of pro-secessionist sentiment—on February 23. Pinkerton recommended that Lincoln leave that very night for Washington, rolling secretly through Baltimore. Lincoln refused. “I could not believe there was a plot to murder me,” Lincoln would later write. Besides, he already had engagements for the next day in Philadelphia and Harrisburg that he felt compelled to honor.

After leaving Pinkerton, Lincoln was introduced to Frederick Seward, son of New York Senator (and soon to be Lincoln’s Secretary of State) William Seward. Seward had a letter from Colonel Charles Stone, who had the job of watching pro-secessionists in Washington. He had information of a Baltimore plot as well. “I now believed such a plot existed,” Lincoln wrote. Still, he refused to change his plans.

The next day, Lincoln attended a ceremony at Independence Hall, where the first American flag with thirty-four stars (Kansas had been admitted to the Union on January 29) was raised. During his dedication speech, Lincoln revealed what was much on his mind, “But if this country cannot be saved without giving up that principle [freedom]—I was about to say I would rather be assassinated on the spot than surrender it.”
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SHOULD LINCOLN HAVE BEEN WORRIED?

Long before he left for Washington, the president-elect had heard rumors of people who intended “mischief,” Lincoln later admitted. “I never attached much importance to them.” But on February 21, Lincoln received word from two separate sources of a Baltimore plot. One of those sources—Allan Pinkerton—revealed that a barber named Cypriano Ferrandini and his associates planned to kill Lincoln as he emerged from the narrow vestibule at the Baltimore Calvert Street Station. But Pinkerton was uncertain that the conspirators had the guts to carry out their plot.

There were, however, others who tried to convince Lincoln of the danger. General in Chief Winfield Scott was worried. And Captain George Hazzard, who had lived in the tough, pro-South city of Baltimore, also warned Lincoln that the risk was genuine. Hazzard recommended that Lincoln take an unannounced late night train through Baltimore (the only direct rail connection to Washington), wearing “an old slouched hat, and long cloak or overcoat for concealment.” That is eventually what Lincoln did.

As it turned out, there was a disturbance at the Calvert Station. On the day Lincoln was to appear there, a New York train was mistaken for his and a crowd swarmed over it, mounting the cars and “shouting, hallooing and making all manner of noises,” a local newspaper reported. But a rambunctious crowd is not the same as a group of assassins.

Lincoln himself was dubious of the plot. “I did not then, nor do I now believe I should have been assassinated had I gone through Baltimore,” he said later. “But I thought it wise to run no risk where no risk was necessary.”



FEBRUARY 23

Lincoln’s Secret Train Ride

By the morning of February 22, 1861, Lincoln was finally convinced that the plot to assassinate him in Baltimore the next day was legitimate. He agreed to sneak in and out of Baltimore and on this night in 1861 he did just that.

On the evening of February 22, one of Detective Allan Pinkerton’s operatives—Andrew Wynné—cut Harrisburg, Pennsylvania’s telegraph wires to prevent leaks to the would-be conspirators. Lincoln left his hotel wearing a soft felt “Kossuth” hat and an overcoat thrown over his shoulders. He took a train from Harrisburg to Philadelphia, and there Pinkerton took Lincoln on a carriage ride around the city until the train to Baltimore was about to leave the station. Another operative created an elaborate hoax to distract the conductor while the secret party slipped into the rear sleeping car, Lincoln stooping to disguise his height.

The sleeping berth was so short that Lincoln had to double up his legs to lie on it and spent an uncomfortable, sleepless night telling jokes. The presidential party passed quietly through Baltimore at 3:00 AM and arrived in Washington three hours later. Emerging from the station, Lincoln remained unrecognized until someone yelled, “Abe, you can’t play that on me!” Pinkerton whirled around to meet the attacker, only to find Lincoln’s friend and Illinois Congressman Elihu Washburne hailing them.

The press severely criticized Lincoln for the episode, questioning his courage. A supporter, George Templeton Strong, wrote, “this surreptitious nocturnal dodging and sneaking of the president-elect into his capital city … will be used to damage his moral position and throw ridicule on his administration.” Lincoln’s family went through Baltimore separately.
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LINCOLN’S FIRST DAY IN WASHINGTON

Upon reaching Washington, Lincoln checked into the Willard Hotel at Pennsylvania Avenue and Fourteenth Street. There, in suite six, where he would remain for the next ten days until his inauguration, Lincoln found a letter waiting for him. “If you don’t Resign we are going to put a spider in your dumpling and play the Devil with you,” it read. What followed were nine lines of obscenities.

Lincoln wired Mary to tell her of his safe arrival and then had breakfast with Secretary of State–designate William Seward. Lincoln and Seward walked to the White House, where President James Buchanan greeted his successor exuberantly and took him on a brief tour of the executive mansion.

Late that afternoon the rest of the Lincolns finally arrived in Washington. Mary was shaken and had a severe headache. As her train passed through Baltimore, a crowd, unaware that the president-elect had already slipped through the city, greeted the presidential coaches. The clamoring for Lincoln, the menacing faces, and the abusive cat-calls were something Mary would never forget.

At Willard’s, Lincoln received visitors all day, including delegates from a peace conference organized to stem the secession crisis. After nine that night, Lincoln held an informal reception for members of Congress and guests. One of the guests was William Dodge, a rich New York merchant who told Lincoln that he must make concessions to the South or the nation would go bankrupt and “grass shall grow in the streets of our commercial cities.” Lincoln frowned and said he preferred that grass grow in meadows but that he’d defend the Constitution and “let the grass grow where it may.”



FEBRUARY 27

The Old Nemesis

On this Wednesday in 1861, Lincoln met with his old nemesis Stephen Douglas and forged a working partnership based on their mutual patriotism.

Lincoln owed his presidency to his public animosity with Douglas. In 1854, Lincoln was all but retired from political life when Illinois Senator Douglas introduced the Kansas–Nebraska Act, allowing a Northern territory to vote to be a slave state (Douglas’s popular sovereignty policy). Lincoln began to heavily campaign against this “great wrong and injustice.”

When Douglas was up for reelection in 1858, Lincoln carried the argument onto the campaign trail. The ensuing debates launched the relatively unknown Lincoln into the national spotlight, even though he didn’t win the Senate seat. Afterwards, Lincoln rebutted Douglas’s arguments one more time in a speech at Cooper Union in Manhattan, a speech that made Lincoln the Republican darling of the East as well the Midwest. Together with his first Matthew Brady portrait (reproduced in mass quantities for the election), Cooper Union made Lincoln a contender for the White House, a prize he eventually took out of Douglas’s grasp. “Brady and Cooper Institute made me President,” Lincoln told a friend.

On this day—the one-year anniversary of Cooper Union and just a week before Lincoln’s inauguration—Douglas visited him at Willard’s Hotel to urge conciliation and compromise with the South. Douglas also promised that he and his fellow Democrats would not use the crisis for their own political purposes. “Our Union must be preserved,” Douglas said. “Partisan feeling must yield to patriotism. I am with you, Mr. President, and God bless you.” After Douglas left, Lincoln, visibly touched, said, “What a noble man Douglas is!”

Four months later, Douglas would die while actively campaigning for Lincoln’s war effort.

MARCH 5

Anderson’s Warning

On this Tuesday in 1861—his first morning as president—Lincoln found on his desk a letter with some unexpected bad news. It was from Major Robert Anderson, the commander of Fort Sumter, a bastion that sat on a granite island four miles from downtown Charleston, South Carolina. It represented the only federal authority remaining in all of South Carolina and—along with Fort Pickens in Florida—was nearly the only federal presence in all of the Confederate Deep South. A ring of cannon and thousands of South Carolina militiamen had surrounded Anderson and his 127 men for three months, itching to start a war. In his letter, Anderson warned that provisions for his garrison would be exhausted in six weeks and he would be forced to surrender. Worse, Anderson estimated that he would need 20,000 reinforcements for him to hold the fort. Lincoln, at the time, had a total of only 16,000 men in the entire army.

Lincoln turned to Winfield Scott, the seventy-five-year-old general in chief who was so enfeebled and corpulent that he could neither ride a horse nor climb the White House steps. And yet the hero of the Mexican War was perhaps the most experienced and most respected military mind in America. That evening Scott wrote Lincoln that it was too late to save Fort Sumter. “We cannot send a third of the men … necessary to give them [Sumter] relief,” said Scott, and felt that surrender was the only alternative.

Lincoln had a dilemma, in his inaugural speech, he pledged not only to “hold … places belonging to the government,” but to avoid “bloodshed or violence … unless it be forced upon the national authority.” Now, just a day later, he was faced with the possibility of breaking one or both of his promises.

MARCH 10

Lincoln Goes to Church

This Sunday in 1861 was Lincoln’s first as president, and he attended—with his family—services at the New York Avenue Presbyterian Church on the corner of Avenue and Thirteenth Street. While Lincoln would never join any church, he did become a regular attendee at this one and, on June 1 of that year, he reserved a pew eight rows from the front at $50 a year. It was church custom to remain seated during prayer, but Lincoln always stood. When he attended Wednesday night prayer services, Lincoln would sit in the pastor’s private study where he could listen and not be seen.

The pastor, Dr. Phineas Gurley, was a frequent visitor to the White House, often to petition the president on behalf of clergymen who had been arrested, usually because of their sympathies toward the South. He warned that the War Department’s removal of pastors from Northern churches would be more “injurious than beneficial to the Government.”

For a year after Willie’s death, Mary rarely appeared in public except to attend church where—as one observer noted—she “was so hid behind an immense black veil—and very deep black flounces—that one could scarcely tell she was there.” Nine months after Willie’s death, journalist Noah Brooks attended a Sunday service at Lincoln’s church, and observed Lincoln’s sad charisma:

As he moves down the church aisle, recognizing, with a cheerful nod, his friends on either side, his homely face lighted with a smile, there is an involuntary expression of respect on every face, and men, who would scorn to “toady” to any President, look with commiserating admiration on that tall, mourning figure.
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PRAYING FOR THE PRESIDENT

It was the custom of many churches during the nineteenth century to say a prayer for the president during Sunday services. When the South seceded from the Union, however, this practice became contentious. Dr. J. C. Smith, pastor of the Fourth Presbyterian Church in Washington, refused to give up the practice, to the consternation of secessionists in his church. Willie and Tad Lincoln occasionally attended the Fourth Presbyterian, the regular church of their best friends, Bud and Holly Taft. Their older sister Julia recorded one such visit:

Many in our church were in sympathy with the secessionists, and when Doctor Smith prayed for the President … they would express their disapproval by rising and leaving the church, banging the pew doors … on their way out. This went on for several weeks until one Sunday a slim young lieutenant appeared with a file of soldiers … [and announced] “it is the order of the Provost Marshal that any one disturbing this service or leaving it before it is out will be arrested and taken to the guardhouse.” It seemed to me that the Doctor Smith prayed rather longer and more fervently than usual that day for the President but there was no disturbance on the part of the secessionists. Tad Lincoln was frankly disappointed. The indignant exodus of the secessionists with their banging of pew doors had been a welcome respite in the long prayer.

Later, when Willie told his father the story, Tad asked why preachers insist on praying “so long for you, Pa?” The president’s smile left his face and he replied, “Well, Tad, I supposed it’s because the preachers think I need it, and I guess I do.”



MARCH 12

Surrendering Sumter?

On this day in 1861, Lincoln struggled over whether he should abandon or send provisions to beseiged Fort Sumter off Charleston, South Carolina.

Lincoln was not a man who reached conclusions quickly or acted impetuously. After he was informed of Major Robert Anderson’s dire situation at Fort Sumter (the fort would run out of supplies soon), he made no public pronouncements or promises that he might later regret. For four days he didn’t even discuss it with his cabinet, to allow, he said, “the Administration to get in working order.” Then on March 9 he broke the news during an evening cabinet meeting, with Lincoln adding that General in Chief Winfield Scott recommended surrendering Sumter. The majority of the shocked department heads quickly concurred.

Lincoln, unwilling to make a decision yet, on that same day went back to Scott for more information. He asked the general how long Sumter’s supplies could last, and if Scott could reinforce or resupply the fort in time. On this day, Scott responded that Major Anderson’s men could “hold out some forty days without much suffering from hunger” but reinforcement or resupply couldn’t be attempted in less than “six to eight months.” Either surrender of the fort or starvation of Anderson’s men was, Scott maintained, “merely a question of time.”

“It is, therefore, my opinion and advice,” Scott wrote, “that Major Anderson be instructed to evacuate the Fort … immediately on procuring suitable water transportation.”

Lincoln, still not satisfied, gathered around him less pessimistic military minds. One optimist in particular—former Navy lieutenant Gustavus Fox—was knowledgeable of coastal defenses and had for months been advocating a plan to use powerful light-draft tugboats to quickly run past the Charleston shallows and gun batteries to take men and supplies to the fort at night. Scott, with the usual scorn the army had for navy planners, thought the plan impractical. But Lincoln began to consider it.

MARCH 16

Lincoln Polls His Cabinet

Lincoln was still undecided about what to do with Fort Sumter and was considering Lieutenant Gustavus Fox’s plans to replenish and/or reinforce the fort using shallow-draft tugs. On March 15, 1861, Lincoln decided to poll his cabinet, sending each of them a note: “Assuming it to be possible to now provision Fort-Sumpter, under all the circumstances, is it wise to attempt it?” The next day, this Saturday in 1861, all seven department heads submitted a written opinion.

Secretary of State William Seward believed that any attempt to send provisions to the fort would “provoke combat, and probably initiate a civil war.” Seward believed that Union sentiment was still prevalent in the South and that a policy of conciliation would buy time for rebellious sentiment to subside. Attorney General Edward Bates concurred, believing that the South would reunite with the North “if encouraged by wise, moderate, and firm measures … without the effusion of blood.” Three other department heads agreed that reinforcing Fort Sumter shouldn’t be attempted.

Postmaster General Montgomery Blair took the opposite view, believing that a strengthened and resupplied Fort Sumter stubbornly maintained in the heart of South Carolina would “demoralize the Rebellion” and leave its instigators to stew in an “impotent rage.” Such a symbol would stir an “outburst of patriotic feeling which … would speedily overwhelm the traitors.” Salmon Chase, secretary of the treasury, also believed that the fort should be provisioned, but only because he did not believe it would spark armed conflict.

Lincoln was not happy with his advisors’ opinions. He felt that surrendering the fort “would be utterly ruinous” politically. As he explained to Congress later, such actions “would discourage friends of the Union, [and] embolden its adversaries … in fact, it would be our national destruction consummated.” Despite the advice of his general in chief and most of his cabinet, Lincoln began to lean toward resupplying and reinforcing the fort.
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THE SURROUNDED FORTRESS

Traditionally the first shots of the Civil War are said to have been fired at Fort Sumter at 4:30 AM on April 12, 1861. Technically, however, they were fired more than three months earlier when James Buchanan, not Abraham Lincoln, was president.

In the days after South Carolina seceded from the Union, on December 20, 1860, it was clear that the state government meant to confiscate all federal property in Charleston, including Forts Sumter, Moultrie, Johnson, and Castle Pickney. And, if necessary, the state militia meant to forcibly remove the troops from those forts. On the day after Christmas, Major Robert Anderson secretly moved his seventy-five soldiers from the indefensible Fort Moultrie on Sullivan’s Island to the highly defensible Fort Sumter in the middle of Charleston Harbor. The Carolinians, led by General P. G. T. Beauregard, responded by isolating the Sumter garrison, forming a ring of cannon and mortar batteries around it.

In January 1861, Buchanan’s administration attempted to slip an unarmed passenger liner named Star of the West into Charleston harbor and deliver 200 soldiers to the besieged garrison. The Star of the West arrived outside the ship channel during the night of January 9 but, because the rebels had destroyed the lighthouse and pulled out the channel buoys, she couldn’t make her run until first light. By then the federal troops could plainly be seen crowding her decks.

At 7:15 AM, a young military cadet named G. W. Haynes-worth fired a twenty-four-pound shot across the Star of the West’s bow. Two shots from his battery actually struck the liner before she turned around and left without reaching Sumter. The ship’s American flag was clearly visible and firing upon it was an act of war. Had President Buchanan been so inclined, the Civil War could have started two months before Lincoln was inaugurated.
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